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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERNDISTRICT OF NEW YORK

_____________________________________________________ X
CHAIM KAPLAN, et al.,
Plaintiff, : 10Civ. 5298
: Opinion & Order
-against- :
AL JAZEERA, :
Defendant. :
_____________________________________________________ X
WOOD, U.S.D.J.:
l. Overview

A group of American, Israeli, and Canad@wilians (“Plaintiffs’) bring this action
against Al Jazeera (“Defendant”), alleging clammsler the Antiterrorism Act, 18 U.S.C. § 2333,
under the Alien Tort Statute, 28 U.S.C1350, and under IsraeliMafor negligence and
vicarious liability.

Defendant moves to dismiss PlaintiffsigtiAmended Complaint (“FAC”) pursuant to
Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Bedure (“Rule 12(b)(6)”). For the reasons that
follow, the Court GRANTS Defendant’s motionpart, and declines to exercise supplemental
jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ remaining Israeli law claims.

[. Background

The following facts are drawn from Plaintiff€omplaint, and are taken as true for the

purposes of Defendant’s Rule 12(b)(6) motion. Bek Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S.
544, 555-56 (2007).

A. TheParties
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Plaintiffs are a group of United States, Caaadand Israeli citizens who were injured in
a series of rocket and missile attacks caroietin Israel by the Hezbollah organization
(“Hezbollah")! between July 12, 2006 and August 14, 2006; Plaintiffs also include the family
members and personal representatives of theeesthone American ttzen and four Israeli
citizens who were killed imbse attacks. (FAC 11 1-12.)

Defendant is a television netvk incorporated in Qatawhich conducts business in the
United States. (FAC { 13.)

B. Facts

Between July 12, 2006 and August 14, 2006, Hekalbdired thousands of rockets and
missiles at civilians in northern Israel (nefed to by Plaintiffs as the “Hezbollah Rocket
Barrage”). (FAC 1 34.) The Hezbollah Rocket Bgeraesulted in the deaths of at least forty-
three civilians and injured hundedf others. (FAC | 35.)

Plaintiffs state that it wa®xtremely difficult” for Hezbollah to aim its rockets during the
Hezbollah Rocket Barrage, because Hezbolledtkets had no internal guidance system. (FAC
1 36.) Plaintiffs state that the only way foe#bollah to aim its rockets accurately was for it to
obtain information regarding the precise locatiomgre other rockets Halready landed, and to
then adjust the trajectory stibsequently fired rockets accmgly. (FAC  37.) Plaintiffs
allege that such information (i.@here Hezbollah’s rocketsad landed) was broadcast by

Defendant. (FAC 1 39-41.)

! Plaintiffs describe Hezbollah as a “raditsimic terrorist organization” that seeks to
“destroy[] the State of Israel lmarrying out terrorist attacks against Israel and Israeli targets,
including Israeli civilans.” (FAC 11 17, 19.)

The United States has designated Hezbollah a “Specially Designated Terrorist,” a
“Foreign Terrorist Organization,” and a “Speciahgsignated Global Terrorist.” (FAC { 28.)



Specifically, Plaintiffs state that, during the course of the Hezbollah Rocket Barrage,
Defendant’'s employees, while located in Israedpeatedly and intéionally recorded and
transmitted to Al Jazeera’s broadcast facilitied-tane audiovisual footage . . . describing and
depicting the precise impact locations in Israfalockets fired by Hezlah, and [that] those
transmissions were broadcast ialfeme to the public by Al-Jazeera(FAC  39.) Plaintiffs
state that Defendant’s recording, transmissamm, broadcast of thepact locations of
Hezbollah’s rockets was done pursuant to “tfiieial organizational plicies” of Defendant.
(FAC 1 40.)

Plaintiffs state that Defendahtoadcast the impact locatioaEHezbollah’s rockets “for
the specific purpose and with thpecific intention of assistinigezbollah to more accurately aim
its rockets, and thereby infliatore and greater harm” on Israeld the United States. (FAC
142)

In this action, Plaintiffs assefite claims against DefendantFirst, those Plaintiffs with
United States citizenship claim that Defendangsvs broadcasts of the Hezbollah Rocket
Barrage constitute “acts ofternational terrorism” under thntiterrorism Act, 18 U.S.C. 8
2333(a). (Se€&AC 11 113-25.) Second, those same Rftdrclaim that Defendant aided and

abetted Hezbollah’s “international actstefrorism” under the Antiterrorism Act. (SEAC 1

% In 2003, the Israeli military issued standing ordersews organizations forbidding them from
reporting real-time information regarding the meplocations of Hezllah's rockets. Those
standing orders were distributeamlall news organizationsith representatives in Israel,
including Defendant. (FAC { 38.) The starglorders were reissued when the Hezbollah
Rocket Barrage began in 2006. Defendant receivestémeling orders at thaime. (FAC 1 38.)

Defendant’s employees were arrested oeisd occasions by fgeli authorities for
violating the standing orders, byoadcasting footage depictingetimpact locations of rockets
fired by Hezbollah. (FAC § 39.) Plaintiftk> not allege that Defielant or Defendant’s
employees were ever convictedanfy violation of tiese standing orders any other censorship
law.



126-35.) Third, those Plaintiffs whip not have United States citizenshifaim that Defendant
aided and abetted Hezbollah’s war crimes aothtions of the law ohations within the
meaning of the Alien Tort Statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1350. e 11 136-44.) Finally, all
Plaintiffs bring claims unddsrael’s Civil Wrongs Ordinase for negligence and vicarious
liability. (SeeFAC 1 145-64.)

Defendant moves to dismiss all of Plaintifgaims pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). (Sekt.
Entry No. 22.)

[1. L egal Standard

In order to survive a Rule 12(b)(6) moti@plaintiff must havepleaded sufficient
factual allegations “to state a claim to eélihat is plausiblen its face.”_Twombly550 U.S. at
570. A claim is facially plausible “when the plafhpleads factual content that allows the court
to draw the reasonable infementhat the defendant is lialfter the misconduct alleged.”

Ashcroft v. Igbal -- U.S. --, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009¥here a plaintiff has not “nudged

[his or her] claims across the line from ceivable to plausible, [the] complaint must be

dismissed.”_Twombly550 U.S. at 570; see alStarr v. Sony BMG Music Entm’'692 F.3d

314, 321 (2d Cir. 2010) (“[W]here the well-pleadedts do not permit the Court to infer more
than the mere possibility afisconduct,” however, dismissal is appropriate.”) (quoting |20
S. Ct. at 1950).

The Court must accept as true all well-pleaded factual allegations in the complaint, and

“draw] ] all inferences in the plaiffits favor.” Allaire Corp. v. Okumus433 F.3d 248, 249-50

% One of these plaintiffs, Ester Lelchook, is an Israeli citizen, hbtited States citizen.
However, she is the widow @favid Marti Lelchook, a United Stxd citizen, and the complaint
refers to her at times as an “American plaintiff.” ($&« at 5 nl.)
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(2d Cir. 2006) (internal quotations omitted). HoweVée tenet that a court must accept as true
all of the allegations contained in a complasnnapplicable to legal conclusions.” Igb&P9 S.
Ct. at 1949. “Threadbare recitalbthe elements of a cause of action, supported by mere

conclusory statements, do not suffice.” ke als@wombly, 550 U.S. at 555 (noting that a

court is “not bound to accept aséra legal conclusion couchedafactual allegation” (quoting

Papasan v. Allaimd78 U.S. 265, 286 (1986))).

Finally, the requirement to plead facts rattien legal conclusiorepplies to allegations
of a defendant’s intent as well as ghéions about a defenalzs conduct._Sefgbal, 129 S. Ct.
at 1954 (“Respondent finally maintains that Bezleral Rules expressly allow him to allege
petitioners’ discriminatory intengenerally,” which he equates with a conclusory allegation. . . .
But the Federal Rules do not require courts to credit a complaint’s conclusory statements without
reference to its factual context.”).

V. Analysis

A. Plaintiffs’ Antiterrorism Act Claim

Those Plaintiffs with United States citizenshklpim that Defendant’sews broadcasts of
the Hazbollah Rocket Barrage constitutetSaaf internationaterrorism,” under the
Antiterrorism Act (“ATA”), 18 U.S.C. § 2333(a)._(SEAC 11 113-25.) Defendant has moved
to dismiss Plaintiff's Section 2333(a) claim, amgithat the complaint falto plead a plausible
claim under the under Rule 12(b)(6). For the reatimaisfollow, the Court finds that Plaintiffs
have failed to sufficiently pleaal violation of Section 2333(a).

1. ApplicableLaw

The ATA creates a private right of actiorr fmy national of the United States who is

“injured in his or her person, property, or busin@gseason of an act ofternational terrorism.”
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18 U.S.C. § 2333(a) (emphasis added). Acts ofnatenal terrorisnare defined as “activities”
that:
(A) involve violent acts or astdangerous to human life that are a violation of the

criminallaws of the United States or of any Statethat would be a criminal violation if
committed within the jurisdiction of the United States or of any State;

(B) appear to be intended--
(i) to intimidate or coere a civilian population;
(i) to influence the polig of a government by intimidation or coercion; or
(iii) to affect the conduct of a governmdayt mass destruction, assassination, or
kidnappingand

(C) occur primarily outside the territorialrjsdiction of the United States, or transcend
national boundaries in term$the means by which they are accomplished, the persons
they appear intended to intimidate or coearehe locale in which their perpetrators
operate or seek asylum;
18 U.S.C. § 2331(1)(A)-(C) (emphasis added).
The parties devote much of their paperdiscussing whether Pldifis have plausibly
pled a predicate violation of a criminal law pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 2331(1)(A). More important,
however, is the fact that, “irrespteve of which statute . . . prales the basis for a finding that

defendant engaged in international terrorism, ffésmmust still meet the scienter requirements

of § 2333(a) itself in order to hold defendéable under that statute.” Goldberg v. UBS AG

660 F. Supp. 2d 410, 427-28 (E.D.N.Y. 2009) (citingnBw. Quranic Literacy Inst. and Holy

Land Found. for Relief and De291 F.3d 1000, 1016 (7@ir. 2002) [hereinafter_“Boim”].

Although Section 2333(a) does refplicitly contain a statef mind requirement, courts
have interpreted the statute “to include a nement that there be some deliberate wrongdoing
by the defendant, in light of the fact thiae statute contains a punitive element {reble

damages).”_Goldber®60 F. Supp. 2d at 428; see dixathstein v. UBS AGO8 Civ. 4414,

2011 WL 70354, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Jan.&)11) [hereinafter “Rothstein”]I(stating that Section



2333(a) “expressly require[s] imt#). Indeed, in perhaps tmost comprehensive decision to
date addressing Section 2333¢hE Seventh Circuit, sittingn banc, held that, “since section
2333 provides for an automatic trebling of danshgédt . . . require[s] proof of intentional

misconduct.” _Boim v. Holy Land Found. for Relief and D&A9 F.3d 685, 692 (7th Cir. 2008)

[hereinafter “Boim IT]. The Seventh Circuit reasoned that:

Punitive damages are rarely if ever imposed unless the defendant is found to have
engaged in deliberate wrongdoing. Somethingentiban the mere commission of a tort
is always required for punitive damages. Eheust be circumstances of aggravation or
outrage, such as spite or “malice,” or audulent or evil motive on the part of the
defendantor such a conscious and deliberate desre@@f the interests of others that the
conduct may be called wilful [sic] or wanton.

Id. (citing W. Page Keeton et al.,dser and Keeton on the Law of Ta§tg, pp. 9-10 (5th

ed.1984)) (emphasis added).

2. Application of Law to Facts

Plaintiffs havealleged (1) that, because Hezbbltarockets had no internal guidance
system, Hezbollah needed to see where dkats had already landed in order to aim its
subsequent rockets more accurately; (2) thatmfiet broadcast news of the Hezbollah Rocket
Barrage; and (3) that Defendant was known by otteehgwve an anti-Amr&can and anti-Israeli
bias. Plaintiffs have natlleged any facts suggesting (1latibefendant intended for Hezbollah
to view its broadcasts; (2) that Hezbollah altjudewed Defendant’s broadcasts; and (3) that
Defendant knew that Hezbollah svaiewing its broadcasts. Aaabngly, Plaintiffs’ claim is
simply that Defendant broadcast informatioattmay have been helpful to Hezbollah in
achieving its organizational goals. This claanKs the elements of both intent and proximate
cause that are necessary for Riffis’ Section 2333(a) claim.

a [ntent



The gravamen of Plaintiffs’ complaint isathDefendant broadcatste Hezbollah rocket
attacks “with the intentionf assisting Hezbollah to improve its aiming ability.” ($#eOpp. at
8 (original emphasis)); see alBAC | 41 (“Al Jazeera repeatedly recorded, transmitted, and
broadcasted the impact locationsH#zbollah rockets . . . with tlepecific intention of assisting
Hezbollah to harm Israel and the United Statessistent with and pursuant to Al Jazeera’s
support for Hezbollah and its goals.”).

Plaintiffs’ allegation of Deendant’s wrongful intent mu$te supported by “sufficient
factual matter” in order for Plaintiff to suive Defendant’s motion to dismiss. IqbaP9 S. Ct.
at 1949. Plaintiffs’ complaint must “allege fa¢hat are not merely consistent with the
conclusion that the defendant violated the law, but which actively and plausibly suggest that

conclusion.” _Port Dock & Stone Corp. v. Oldcastle Northeast, 503, F.3d 117, 121 (2d Cir.

2007) (citing_Twombly 550 U.S. at 557).

The Court finds that Plaintiffs have failedrteeet this burden. Tsupport their claim of
wrongful intent, Plaintiffs assethat Defendant haan official “anti-American and anti-Israel
organizational policy.” (FAC 1 33.) In suppoftthis assertion, Plaintiffs cite to eight
statements and three actions mad&ken by third parties. (SEAC | 33.) Plaintiffs contend
that these statements and actions show that dthand Defendant’s news coverage to favor
Hezbollah, and to be biased againsté$ and/or the Uted States. (1d. For example, Plaintiffs
state that United States officials filed @ldimatic complaint against Defendant, accusing
Defendant of having an anti-American slant] abjecting to Defendant describing Palestinian
suicide bombers as “martyrs.” (FAC | 33(alaintiffs also cite an opinion piece in tNew

York Times that stated that Defendant’s coveraf¢he September 11, 2001 attacks, and the



United States’ war against terrorism more gengraths been “entirely fra the Taliban point of
view.” (FAC 1 33(b).)

Assuming that all of those statements waeede, and that those actions were taken—and
that others found Defendant’s news reports to bedal—Plaintiffs have still failed to allege any
facts suggesting that Defendant broadcast réwse Hezbollah Rocket Barrage with the
intention of assisting HezbollalOnly three of Plaintiffs’ eleven citations even refer to
Hezbollah. (Se&AC 1 33(i)-(k).) Only one of thoserte citations assertisat Defendant has
any bias in favor of Hezbollah specifically—aeden that says nothing about any “official
organization policy” that Defendant may hdaa, let alone any intention Defendant may have
had to aid Hezbollah._(SE&AC § 33(k) (“Al-Jazeera has a biasvards . . . Hizballah.”).)

Finally, only one of the statements cited by Piffsits made on Defenddstbehalf; it consists
of Al Jazeera’s spokesman’s statement that]6pey is not of paramount importance. We
believe we have a mission.” (FAC § 33(d)Dhat statement—“[w]e believe we have a
mission”—suggests nothing about what Defendani&sion actually is, and Plaintiffs offer no
facts to elucidate that statement. (E&¢ I 33(d).) As Defendamibtes, this spokesman could
be referring to any number of missions, inghgdsimply a news organization’s “mission” to
accurately report the news.€D Mem. at 11-12 n.6.)

Plaintiffs assert that they have metittburden of pleading intent, because Section
2331(1)(B) requires only the appaace of intent, which is “matter of external appearance
rather than subjective intent.” SBé Opp. at 22-23 (citing Boim,Ib49 F.3d at 694); see also

18 U.S.C. § 2331(1)(B)). Plaintiftste the Seventh Circuit’s en badecision in Boim lito

support their argument. _Idn Boim I, parents of a United Statesizén who was fatally shot in

Israel by gunmen allegedly working for tHamas terrorist orgaration brought a Section
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2333(a) claim against three orgaations, claiming that thoseganizations provided financial
support to Hamas before their son’s dedif9 F.3d at 687-88. After finding that Section
2333(a) requires “proof of intentional misconduct,” the Seventh Circuit held that, a “knowing
donor to Hamas—that is, a donor who knew the @ngsactivities of the organization” would
know that “by augmenting Hamas’s resources,)ftmeould enable Hamas to kill or wound . . .

people in Israel.”_ldat 693-94. The Court conclud#uht, “given such foreseeable

consequencesuch donations would ‘appear to be intendetb intimidate or coerce a civilian

population’ . . . as requideby section 2331(1).”_Icat 694 (emphasis added); see &siddberg

660 F. Supp. 2d at 428 (“[I]t is sufficient to shtvat [the defendant] knew the entity had been
designated as a terrorist organization, and deltbbr disregarded that fact while continuing to

provide financial service® the organization with knowleddieat the services would in all

likelihood assist the organizatiom accomplishing its violent goaf$ (emphasis added).

By making this comparison to Boim Plaintiffs seem to bsuggesting that Defendant’s
broadcast of the Hezbollah Rocket Barragestitutes a provision of material support to

Hezbollah—akin to the monagiven to Hamas in Boim-H-and that the foreseeable

consequence of that broadcast was to enaldbdtlah to aim its rookts more accurately at
targets.

This suggestion strains credulity. Whepesison donates money to an organization, like
in Boim I, the “foreseeable consequence” of that actidhasthat money will be used to further
the goals of the organization, or to “augrtighe organization’s resources. Boim349 F.3d at
693-94. Here, Plaintiffs have offered no factggasting that Defendabtoadcast news of the
rocket attacks “with knowledge thtite services [i.e. its broadt¢aould in all likelihood assist

the organization in accomplishing its violent goals.” Goldpb&6® F. Supp.2d at 428. In fact,
10



Plaintiffs have offered no factsiggesting that Defendant even knthat it was providing
anythingto Hezbollah. This is ar cry from donating money @ terrorist organization.

Unlike a financial donation to a terrorist orgeation, news coverage tife activities of a
terrorist organization can serve amtirely different and acceptatpurpose, namely, delivering
important information to the publft. See Twombly550 U.S. at 567 (discussing an “obvious
alternative explanation” to theatin being advanced). For all of these reasons, Plaintiffs have
failed to plausibly plead the element of intent isatecessary for their Section 2333(a) claim.

b. Proximate&Cause

Plaintiffs have also failetb plead the element of proximatause necessary for a Section
2333(a) claim. Section 2333 prov&deedress to victims who demdrage that they were injured
“by reason ofan act of international terrorism.” 18S.C. § 2333(a) (emphasis added). “The
‘by reason of' language, ultimately derived froime Clayton Antitrust Acof 1914[,] . . . has

typically been construed as synonymous with ‘proximate cause.” Rothstein v. UBHARG.

Supp. 2d 292, 295 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) [hereinafter “Rothstgjrsée alsoGoldberg 660 F. Supp.
2d at 429 (“The words ‘by reason of have ba#rrpreted to express Congress’s intent to
require a showing of proximate causation."festablishing a proximate causal relationship

between the defendant’s condaad the plaintiff’s injuriess an indispensable element of a

Section 2333(a) civil damages claim.” Rothstejr2011 WL 70354, at *4 (emphasis added);

see alsétutts v. De Dietrich GroyfNo. 03-CV-4058, 2006 WL 1867060, at *3 (E.D.N.Y. Jun.

30, 2006) (finding that the “by reason of intational terrorism” language “implies a proximate

* Plaintiffs do not appear to dispute the fact thatHezbollah rocket attacks were covered by all
three of the major United States news nekspas well as CNN, Fox News, and multiple
international news organizations. (3&ef. Reply Mem. at 10.)
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cause requirement such that it must be reasorfiatdgeeable that a defendant’s conduct is likely
to result in violent criminal acts”) (citations omitted).
Plaintiffs have not alleged any facts sudmgsthat Defendant’s badcasts were used by
Hezbollah to better target their rockets. Plaintiffs haffered no facts suggesting that
Hezbollah viewed Defendant’s broadcasts @athan another netwkis broadcasts or no
broadcasts at alf).
C. Conclusion

In sum, the TwombMWqgbal plausibility standard “asks fanore than a sheer possibility

that a defendant has acted unlawfully.” 1gd#19 S. Ct. at 1949. For these reasons stated

above, Plaintiffs’ first claim undehe ATA must be dismisséd.

® Plaintiffs cite the Supreme Court’s dsion in Holder v. Humaitarian Law Project130 S. Ct.
2705 (2010), in arguing that Defendant’s conduokpnately caused Plaintiffs’ injuries, (See
FAC at {1 102-12.) Citing to an ExecutBeanch finding, the Supreme Court_in Holaeted
that, “[g]iven the purposes, organizational struetand clandestine natuséforeign terrorist
organizations, it is highly likely that any matdrsupport to these organizations will ultimately
inure to the benefit of theirioninal, terrorist functions-regaless of whether such support was
ostensibly intended to pport non-violent, non-terrcst activities.” Id.at 2727.

Holderis inapposite. Firstral most significantly, Holdedealt with 18 U.S.C.
8 2339B, which makes it a federal crime to “knogly provide materialigpport or sources to a
foreign terrorist organization.” The instggrtoximate cause analysis involves 18 U.S.C. §
2333(a), not 18 U.S.C. § 2339B. Second, Hoideolved organizationand individuals that
were seeking to “provide support for” the Paatlgarkeran Kurdistan and the Liberation Tigers
of Tamil Ealam, but claimed that they “could miat so for fear of msecution under § 2339B.”
Id. at 2714. Thus, those organizations and inidigls were admittedly intending to give support
to particular organization, wheais here, there are no facts sugggghat Defendant intended to
aid Hezbollah.

® Because the Court finds that Plaintiffs héaiéed to plausibly plead intent and proximate
causation, the Court need not asldr whether Plaintiffs haa&lequately pled a predicate
criminal violation pursuant t@8 U.S.C. § 2331(1)(A).
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B. Plaintiffs’ Aiding and Abetting Terrorism Claim

Those Plaintiffs with United States citizmp also claim that Defendant aided and
abetted Hezbollah’s “international actsterrorism” under the ATA. _(SdeAC 11 126-35.) For
the reasons that follow, the Court finds that flés have failed to state a claim for aiding and
abetting terrorism.

In Boim 11, the Seventh Circuit held that a dedant in an ATA action cannot be held
liable on an aiding andbetting theory. Se@19 F.3d at 689 (finding that Congress’s “statutory
silence on the subject of secondhapility [in the ATA] means there isane”). The Court
explicitly relied on the fact that “section 2333éaithorizes awards of damages to private parties
but does not mention aiders and abettorsther secondary actors.”_Id.

The Second Circuit does not appear to heddressed this precise issue of whether a
defendant in an ATA action can be held liableaonaiding and abetting theory. However, even
assumingrguendo that a defendant in an ATA action dam held liable for aiding and abetting,
Plaintiffs would be required tmake “adequate allegations thia¢ defendant not only knew that
its funds would be used to sponserrorist acts by [the terroristganization] . . . but also [that
it] intended to do so.”_Rothstein 2011 WL 70354, at *2 (citatior@mitted). Indeed, the Court
in Boim 1l noted that “the aiding arabetting standard . . . conditis liability on proof that a
defendant knew of the organization's illegal pugsoand had the intent to further those purposes
when that defendant joined andéded the organization.” Boim, 549 F.3d at 685 (citations

omitted).

The Court therefore need not also addregseant dispute that has arisen with respect to
whether Plaintiffs can properly submit post-cdanpt briefing on the agggability of various
state criminal laws without first amending their complaint.
13



The Court therefore need not resolve whethiding and abetting liability exists for
violations of Section 2333(a)-or the reasons stated abdtke Court finds that Plaintiffs have
asserted no facts that plausiblyggest that Defendant knewlw®adcasts “would be used to
sponsor terrorist acts.” S&wothstein 1) 2011 WL 70354, at *2. Nor have Plaintiffs asserted
facts that suggest that Defendéntended” for its broadcast to hesed to support terrorist acts.
See id. For these reasons, the Cdurts that Plaintiffs have fied to state a claim for aiding
and abetting terrorism under the ATA.

C. Plaintiffs’ Alien Tort Statute Claim

Those Plaintiffs who do not have United $&atitizenship clainthat Defendant aided
and abetted Hezbollah’'s war crimes and violatioinhe law of nations within the meaning of
the Alien Tort Statute (“ATS”), 28 U.S.C. § 1350. ($&%C 11 136-44.)

Plaintiffs’ claim fails as a matter of lammd must be dismissed. The Second Circuit has
held that corporations cannot be held liable for violations of custom@mnational law._See

Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum C&21 F.3d 111, 145 (2d Cir. 2010). _In Kiobi#le Second

Circuit concluded that:

Because corporate liability is not recognizeddspecific, universal, and obligatory”
norm. .. itis not a rule of customaryamational law that we may apply under the
ATS. Accordingly, insofar as plaintiffs ihis action seek to hold only corporations
liable for their conduct in Nigeria (as opposednividuals within those corporations),
and only under the ATS, their claims must be dismissed for lack of subject matter
jurisdiction.

’ See supr&ection IV.A.2.a.
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Id. (citation omitted). Here, Plaiffs are seeking to hold Defendant, a corporation, liable for war
crimes and violations of the law of nations untther ATS. Accordingly, this Court does not have
subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ ATS clafim.

D. Plaintiffs’ Israeli Law Claims for Negligence and Vicarious Liability

Finally, all Plaintiffs assentlaims for negligence and vigaus liability under Israel’s
Civil Wrongs Ordinance (the “CWOQ”)._(Sé&AC 11 145-64.)

In their opposition to Defendant’s motion teutiss, Plaintiffs now acknowledge that the
statute of limitations has ruon the negligence andoarious liability claims of all adult
Plaintiffs. (SeePl. Op. at 29 (“[P]laintiffs are constrad to agree thatehsraeli causes of
action asserted by the adplaintiffs must be dismissed as tirharred.”).) Therefore, Plaintiffs
maintain their negligence and vicarious liabilitgims only with respect to those Plaintiffs who
are_minors (Id.)

Both Defendant and Plaintiffs have stated in their submissions that they prefer that, in the

event that all oPlaintiffs’ federalclaims are dismissed, the Court eaercise supplemental

jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ Israeli law claims. (S&& Op. at 30; Def. Mem. at 25.)
Accordingly, because the Court had dismissed aflaintiffs’ federal claims, the Court will not
exercise jurisdiction over Plaintiffaon-federal, Israeli law claims.
V. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs’ feddeal claims are dismissed pursuant to Rule

12(b)(6), and the Court will not exercise gdiction over Plaintiffs’ Israeli law claims.

8 Plaintiffs recognize thahey are bound by the Kiobdécision. (Pl. Opp. at 29.) They state
that they continue to assert their ATS claimydinh the hope and expedian that the majority
holding in_Kiobelwill be reversed.” (1d.
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Plaintiffs’ claims are dismissed without prejudice and with leave to amend the complaint.
By Friday June 17, 2011, at 12:00 p.m., Plaintiffs shall submit to the Court a letter stating
whether they intend to file a second amended complaint.
SO ORDERED.
Dated: New York, New York
June ;?_’_ ,2011 .
(e . LN
Kimba M. Wood
United States District Judge
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